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SUPREME CCURT CIVIL APPEAL NO. 19/82

BEFORI: THE HOMN. MR. JUSTICE RCWE -~ PRESIDENT
THE HON. MR. JUSTICE CARBERRY, J.4,
THE HON. MR, JUSTICE ROS8S, J. A4,

LETYWIEEN KEITE C. BURKE APPELLANT
i ND COMITISSIOMNER OF VALUATIONS RESPONDENT

nr. Adolph Edwards and lr. Randolph Willicms
ingstructed by Messrs. K.C. Burke & Co. for 2povellant

Ilr. H. Bamilton and liss Claudette Row:n

for Commissionerx of Valuations

Marci 17, 18, 21, 22, 23, 1983 and
July 29, 1987

As Rowe J.4. I prepared this judement some little while
ago and express regret in the delay in its delivery.

Knutsford *ark, once the scene of some epic horse races,
was sub=@ivided into some four hundred lots in 1958 under the wzow
of New Kingston. Frxom a Central Zvenue, Fnutsford Boulevard,
which runs north to scuth, the sub-division has an eastern sprecad
and a western spread. Antigua, Barbados, St. Lucia and Tobago
wore honourad with IZvenues, Grenada with a2 Crescent, Dominica
w7ith a Drive, but the large Island of Trinidad had its own
Terrace. Between CGrenada Crescent into which run Antigua Averue
on the west, and St. Lucia Avenue to the zast {(all three roads rurn
north to south) thore were six large blocks of land with a seventh
klock on the western side of Knutsford Ioulevard, south of
Trinidad Terrace. Common features of the six large blocks ar«

that each lot in each block had a frontage of thirty feet excaepc fLor
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those at the corners; cach block had lots fronting on one of the
wmailn roads; each block had a2 car park adjacent to & wiazza and
zach block had lots which fronted on the car parks. It was

eztimated in evidence that some 200 lots fronted on the nine cax-

In 12¢1, the anmpellant, an attorney -at-law-
surchasad lot 141 for #2,700. On the sub-division nap deposited
o June 13, 19€0, lot 141 awpears on tha castern sicde of
Zoutsford Boulevard. Its frontags is on a car park which runs

Eag -

frowm St. TLucia Avenue. It is the 13th lot on tnz southern side
of that car park and it is bounded on the west bv a series of
lots which have their frontage on Rnutsford Boulevaxd. To the
north of that car nark are lots 121-133, lot 133 being the one
hordering on S5t. Lucia ifvenue. Immediately to the west of that
car mark 1s a pmiazza which a?joins an opening of 30 feet width
which opening leads to Inutsford Boulevard. OCn one of the
sub~division plens deposited in the Titles Office on 13th January.
1222 that opening is not shown as 2 roadway, and there are
indications thereon that some obstruction should Lie constructed
to nreclude motorized access from Knutsford Boulosvard.

Hew Kingston sub-divicion was zone?d for commercial

rurposes and the appellant bought lot 141 for the construction of

his legal offices or alternatively for sveculation. & veluation

of 4500 was placed on the land in 1962 by the Valuation Commissioneas

and this was reduced in 1264 to £400. Ten years later the land
was re-valued by the Valuation Commissioner at $36,700.00. The
appellant objected and cave & valuation of $6,330.00. The
Commissionsr reduced the valuation to $27,000.00; the appellant
thought this was still too high and he brought proceedings in the
fevenue Court. He proferred evidence that his first impressions

were +that he had done good business in purchasing that lot which
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was one of the cheapest in the sub-~division but that he later
became disenchanted with the lot and decided to s:ll it.
During examination-in-chief he said, “after the arsa was buvilt

ur ¥ found I had made a misteke and I wanted to get rid of it.”

In the course of cross-examination the appellant zaid, "I

=

thought I had made a had mistak

0]

when I saw the layout of the
roads in 19627 on the face of it there appears to he a
dizcrepancy between the “ars=a being built up® and “the layout
0¥ the roads” but as to this the learned Judge ¢©f the Revenue
Court made no finding. The appellant said he put upn the land
ioxr sale in 1962 and continued to do sc until t{he hesring of
the awneal. His efforts to sell included rlacing a “For Sale”
sign on tha lot, makina nersonal contacts by letters with meny

organizations and enlisting the aid of Real Estat: Agents. Up

2 1970 his asking price was $6,000.00 and althinugh he received

soulries he got no offers. To Mr. Hamilton's guestion as to

-

hather the appellant had offered the land for sales to Citibank

L%

he answered "NMo, no one in their right mind would buy that lot.”
T acain comment, that the learned judge of the Iwvenue Court mads
no specific reference as to ithe guality of this testimony.

On lots 134-140 Citibank has constructed a large
building of eight to ten storeys high with frontace on Knutsford
foulavard, Lot 141 snuagles up against the rear of this buildine
and is not visible from nutsford Boulevard. Iccess to this 1ot
said the appellant was officiallv from St. Lucic Avenue and the
car park. He knew that one could enter his lot fron Enutsford
Tovlevard as he had driven his car there but he did not know if
it was legal so to do. Th2 appellant was asked sonz guestions as
to the comparability of his lot with lots 216 and 217 and he
adipitted that he knew these .,y lots and that they are comparable to

1ot 141,
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¥r. I. Walters iicCalla, a Real Estate Agent and Valuator
with twenty-nine years of experience gave evidence for the
appellant. In his opinion lot 141 was in a tenth~class locaticn
worth no more than $4,000.CC in 1974. The highest waluation
that he placed upon that property was $4,800.00 although he did
not acre= that land prices in NWew Kingston had depreciated between
1961 and 1974. This Valuator considered lot 141 to be {a)
“landlocked”, {(b) not to be conducive to an office building as
it was not competitive, (c) not easily located as it carried nc
strest number, {(d) not easily saleable as there was a mound
thereon, (e) land had only onz special esoteric use common to
few people only. He did adwmit that one could drive through a
narrow passage from Knutsford FPoulevard to lot 141 althouch at
one point his evidence was that due to the existence of a mound
one could only drive to within. sixty feet of the lot from
¥nutsford Boulevard and would have to walk the rest of the way to
get to the lot. Mr. YcCalla said his efforts to szll some ten
Jots includinc lot 141 in 1973--1974 did not elicit a single offer
although owners would have sold for cost price. Notwithstanding
that he knew the purchases price of lot 141 to have been £5,400.00
in 1%61,he could not place a higher value than $4,000.00 upon it
in 1974 because 141 "was not & useful one.™

Witness Xarl Francis, then Deputy Commiﬁsioner of

Valuations, with sixteen years experience described how he valued
lot 141 for $27,000.20 usinc the principles of location,
availability of public transnmort services, location of residential
areas servicing, site zoning, permitted development, state of
davelopment in the area and sales of comparable proneriies in the
araa. In support of his valuation he produced a scheduled cullazd
from the Register Book of Titles as to sales of lots in the area

which he considered to be comparable to lot 141. This exhibited
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schzdule contained the following information: Lot 142 scld in

1972 for

..
iy

16,200.00, lot 152 sold in 1973 for $33,750.069,

lot 153 scld in 1973 for $34,000.00, lot 129 sold in 1272 for
$30,000.00. 1In Mr. Francis' opinion all lots with frontages
on the car parks were comparable althouch some of them were
nearer to St. Lucia Avenue than others. Visibility was not a
reievant f£actor as the potential for the lot was oiffice type
development and offices did not recuire as great visibility as
shops. Contrary to the views expressed by the aprnellant and
his Valuator, Mr. Francis uaid that the real estate market was
boyant in 1972-1%974 and that there was a significant upward
movement of prices between 1972-1674. He did not find the
existence of the mound on lot 141 significant. In principle
the prescnce of vehicular access from Enutsford Eouleverd to
lot 141 was an important considcration in his valuation, and
Mir. Francis said he saw evidence on the earth of vchicular access
from Xnutsford Boulevardsact 141 at the time when he inspected
the nropertv and when he made his valuation.

There was no dis-similarity between the evidenca for the
appellant and the respondent as to the fact that lots 141-143 were akout
187 below road level nor that the area of ground in front of
theze lots were in 1974 enclosed by a low 8" curbk wall.
lMr. Francis swore that in 1272 when lot 142 was sold the average
nrice of car park lots was $6.90 ver sgquare foot and this price
had increased to $10.00 mexr sguare foot in 1974. He acreed,
however, that the valuation placed on car park lots was not
similar to that placed on main road lots and especially those
with EKnutsford Boulevard frontages. 2idjustments had been made
by him to show the lesser valuation to be applied to car park
lots. He stressed that one of the recognized principles of

valuation was that there should be uniformity of valuation

PO
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between comparable properties in any given area as a conseguencs

of which not only actual sales could be taken into consideration
but alsc valuations placed on comparable lots, e.g. lots 216
and 217. MMr. Francis d4id not agree that lot 141 was landlocked
and he said it had an advantage over lot 142 in that it had
vantilation from three sides.

The learned Judge of the Revenue Court found the
evidence of Mr. MeCalla unsatisfactory in a number of material

particulars. Firstly, Mr. iicCalla’s valuation of 54,00C.00

would amount to a considerable deprediation of the selling price
over a ten year period; secondly, Mr. MgCalla who knew that
se}ling nrice of comparable land was cocent evidence of value
made no effort to investicate such sales and thirdly, he based
himself upon the “landlocked™ position of the lot, a phrase
which the Judge found to he af “doubtful meaning.” Iz dismissed
the testimony of thz arpellant in one telling sentence. "The
evidence of the appellant takes the matter little further.”
Mr. Burke and his witness said there was no demand
for office builiding in the Mew Wingston sub-division in 1%874. Thu
respondent“s‘witness said he did not research that cuestion but
in the absence of an actual sale the permitted method of wvaluation
iz to assume a hypothetical purchaser, and the learned trial
indgz found that the absence of an actual purchascr was not a
critical factor.as the respondent was entitled to.assumc a
hypothetical purchaser.
He was not at all impressed with the evidence of
My, McCalla and concluded that it "would be unsafe to base any
judagment thereon.” He went on to accept the evidence of
Mr, Francis that the real estate market between 1973 and early
1274 was extremely buoyant,. that is to say that valucs were beinc

maintained or were rising.
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L decision of the Revenue Court iz £inal on all
cuestions of fact ~ see section 16 (1) of the Judicature
{lavenue Court) Act conseqguantly this appeal musi of necessity
be concerned only with guestions of law. A Court of Ipneal will
alvays be slow to interfere with a trial judge’s f£indings of
fact. &as Griffith C.J. said in one of the cases cited before us

vig: Spencer v. The Comumonwesalth of Australia {(1907) 5 C.L.R.

410 at 4390:

"It hag often been nointed out that,
when a cause of action has been
heard by & Judge on oral avidence,
a Court of Appeal is very reluctant
to differ from him on a question of
fact, esnecially when there isc &
conflict of evidence. And the sane
considerzations apply whether the
conflict is as to the actual facts,
or as to a matter of opinion 23 O
which it is material to weigh the
relative values of the opinions of
different witnesses.”

This approach is hallowed by practice wvhen an apoecl

is nermissible on the facts, but when there is no aponeal on the

v

Tacts even that residuary power does not reside in the appellat:

=1

tribunal., Even where thaere is no appeal against a finding of
fact, this court will interfere if it is satisfied that the
tribunal of fact has given no weight or no sufficient weight to
those considerations which cught to have weighed with it or if
it has been influenced by other considerations which ought not to
have weighed with it or not weighed with it so much - Ward v.
Joames (1965) 1 All E.R., 563,

The appellant filed and relied upon four Grounds of
ipneal, and also upon tha CGrounds of Appeal argued before the

fevenue Court: Ground 1l -~ 4 are as follows:

"], The learned trial Judge erred
in law in holding that lack of
demand for Lot 141 was neithar
a relevant ncr a wvital factor
in arriving at a valuation of
$27,700 for the land.

A
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in law in holding that
the fact that for over 1¢
the land was advertised
{aicceptable value being o
and there were no offers Lo
purchase, it was not unxeason-
able for the Resrondent o value
the said land for £27.303.

“he learned trial Judge eyred
in law in holding that it wau
irnpossible to say that the
value of $27,000 placed on

said land was excessive,

he learned trial Juden vwa
wiong in law in accepting
Respondent's valuation of
$27,000 for the said land in thate

o
t

hea

{a) there was no evidence ox
no sufficient evidencs of
sales of comparable land;

{b) of approximately two
hundred lots in the ilew
Tingston subdivision vhich
the Pespondent stated to
be comparable, evidence of
sales was broucht in
relation to four lots only.
The FRespondent admitied
that there were othwer sales
but that those ware not

investigated,
\

\
{c) the four lots akout which
evidence of sales wa:z
brought were not comy

to 1ot 141;

1ot
boais
that there was motorised
access from twe main roads
namely $t. Lucia Avaiue
and Knutsford Boulever«d;

)

(<1} the Respondent valueld
141 on the incorrect

(@) one of the factors which
the Respondent statsd to
be important in the vzluation
cf land was the potential
usa of the land. Tho
Despondent further stated
that the potential for lot
141 was an office tvre
bhuilding of two or :
storeys but the wnoontraddcted
evidence was that therc was
no demand for this type of
building;
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TLE) the Respondent incorrectly
notionally brought what was only
potential into actual being and
valued the potential as if it

already existed.

() the learned trial
take into account

Judge failed to
the fact that

potential of land should be
realizable in A short time.

th) that the valuation imposed by the
Commissioner of Valuations is
grossly excessive, and also un-

reasonable.”

Dr. Edwards complained that the Judge of the Revenue
Loard misdirected himself in holding that there was sufficient

evidence of sales of comparable land. 'itnesses on both sides

had agreed that the best and most satisfactory method of

valuation ¢f land is the ascertainment of the price at which

comparable land had been sold. It is a cuestion of fact to be
determined by the trxial judge whether neighbouring property is

comparable or not to the property in question. As was said by

Douglas Brown on nis treatise on Land 2cguisition:

“For the sale of neighbouring land to be
relevant, the valuer neads to establish

that the lands of the claimant are

virtually identical with the land of the
neighbour and that the latter were sold

in the open market at a date close to the
date of acquisition. The date of sale

must be sufficiently close to the date of
acqguisition so that the market price could
not have changed. The physical characteris-
tics, amenities and the temure need to bo as
closely alike as possible.” Land Acquisition

by Douglas Brown Cap. 42

The onus is upon the party submitting such evidence

to prove that the czales were in fact comparable and where there

n., 201,

1093

is a divergznce of opinion as to which sales are comparable salcs,

the burden may shift to the other party.

Erown (supra) p. 202:

Land Acguisition by




0

1ol

10.

Exhibit 3 which was put in evidence by the
respondent made reference to thirteen properties, four of
which represented sales. Of these sales, a point of
comparability was that they were all car park lots within the
same car park. Lot 153 which was sold for $34,000.00 in 1973,
at approximately §$10.94 square foot is situated at the corner
of &t. Lucia Avenue and the car park. Lot 152 which is
immediately west of lot 153 and which was sold in 1%73 for

$33,750.00, at a rate of $10.93 per square foot was described

by lir. Francis as "more attractive!than lot 141 due to its

proximity to St. Lucia Avenue. Lot 129 which is to the

northern section of the car park, is fifth removed from St. Lucia
Avenue and it was sold in May 1973 for $30,000.00. That lot,
too, was considered by Mr. Francis as more attractive than

lot 141. The fourth lot for which the respondent prowvided
evidence of sale was lot 14Z situated immediately to the east

of lot 141. It was of similar size, suffered from a similar

18" depression and it was sold in 1972 for $16,200.00.

Mr. Francis testified that he did not carry out a
research of sales throughout the sub-division and that he
concentrated on the car park of which lot 141 formed a part and
over a period mediate to March 1974.

Severe criticism was launched at the inclusion in
Exhibit 3 of the valuations placed by the Commissioner on lots
216 and 217. The evidence, it is to be recalled, is that these
two lots were immediately west of Knutsford Boulevard in the
same line with lots 141 and 142 on similar car parks but that
there was no motorized access to lots 216 and 217. There was no
dispute that lots 216 and 217 were similarly located to lots 141

and 142 but pr. Edwards argued that it was impermissible
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for the respondent to himself create a valuation and then to

use that creation for his own benefit as a precedent. This
argument drew the response that the Commissioner has a
statutory obligation to attain and preserve uniforwmity in vélues
between vaiuations of comparable parcels of land in any c¢iven
district and to achieve this end the Commissioner is cmpowered
to alter valuations durine the subsistence of a five-year
valuation cycle in accordance with section 11 (3) (g) of the
Land Valuation Act. The valuation placed by the Commissioner

on lots 216 and 217 respectively, are at the rate of $£10.00 and
55.84 ver square foot respectively. In my opinion, if indeed
the Commissioner of Valuations has acted uniformly throughout
his valuation of property which is truly comparable, then
evidence of other wvaluations is admissible, not for the purpose
of bindinc the Court as to the correctness of the valuation, hut
28 an indicator that the challenger’s property has been
impartially {(even if wrongly) and indifferently valued.

In support of Ground of Appeal 4 (d) Dr. Bdwards
argued that the Commissioner acted on an incorrect basis when
he based his va{uation inter alia, on motorized access to lot
141 from St. Lucia Avenue via the car park and also from
Knutsford Doulevard, in that there was no provision in the sub-
division for motorized access from Knutsford Boulevard. Ee
pointed to the physical situation in relation to the car park
lots which border on Tobago Avenue and on Grenada Crescent and
these, he argued, were in a similar legal situation to the lots
off the car park at which lot 141 was located. A raised piazza
from Knutsford Boulevard nrevented motorized access to the car
nark lots west of. Xnutsford Foulevard and Dr. Edwards submitted
that this Court should draw the inference that at any time a
similar ohstruction could bz constructed to affect lot 141.

What Dr. 7“dwards could not say, and what the appellant and his

(0%
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witness could not deny, is that there was on the ground at
the time of the valuation clearly defined motorized access
from Xnutsford Boulevard to lct 141. Apart from the markings
on the sub-~division plan from which an inference could be
drawn that motorized access to lot 141 from Knutsford Poulevard
had not been originally intended, the appellant could provide
no documentary or other evidence to contradict evidence cf the
physical condition .of the land. As Dr. Edwards had to nrcface
his submnissions by an admission that people drive to lot 141
from Knutsford Boulevard, he was met by the response of the
respondent that such a situation was in the contemplation of
the legislature when it defined "unimproved value® to mean:
"{a) in r=lation to unimproved land

the capital sum which the fee

simple of the land together with

any licence or privilege (if any)

for the time being affecting the

land, night be expected to realize

i1f offered for sale on such

reasonable terms and conditions as

a bona fide seller would regquire.®
[¥mphasis minel}.

At the very least, said the respondent, lot 141 enjoys for the
time being a licence or privilege over the roadway which leads
from Fnutsford Boulevard to that lot. Here was an opportunity

for the appellant to present evidence from Kingston and St. Andraw
Corporation as to what, if any, were their intentions in regard

to this roadway, but no such evidence was forthcominc¢. In those
circumstances, I am clearly of the opinion that thaz respondent

was obliged to take into consideration the existing physical
condition of lot 141 in relation to motorized access and conse-
guently no irrelevant consideration, as contended for by the

appecllant, affected the respondent’s decision.
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Grounds 4 (e) (f) {(¢) were arqued together as
Dr. Udwards submitted that the respondent misapplied the
princinles dealing with the potential use of the land by
valuing the lot at its realized possikilities rather than by
its possibilities. @Mr. Francis %or the respondent valued the
lot on the basis that it was suitable for the construction of
a two or three storey office building and this he did although
he had Jdone no research as to the demand for office space in
the licw Iingston area in 1974. liessrs. Burke and licCalla said
they could get no offers for the purchase of lot 141 although

willing to sell for $€,000.00 in 1974,

This Court held in Valuations Commissicner v. #all

{1%€63) 8 J.L.R. 234 that the¢ decisions in the line of cases

exemplified by Vyricherla Narayana Goijgpatirajau (Raja) v. Revenue

Divigsional Officer, Vizaganatam (1939) 2 All E.R. 317, dealing

with compensation for comovulscry acquition of land are applicable
for the interpretation of the Land Valuation Act. Lewis J.A.
said at page 239:

"In my view this reasoning is as

applicable €o the consideraticn of the

real value of the land under the Land
Valuation Law as it is under statutes
decaling with compensation for land
compulsorily acguired. Since the

concept in Loth cases is the samc, namely
the sum which the willing owner selling

in open market on reasonable terms and
conditions would expect to realizce, there
seems to be no good reason why the samne
principles should not apply. &ranted that
the main »nurvose of the Land Valuation Law
is valuation for rating purposes, the
emphasis in the definition of unimgroved
value nevertheless is upon the value to the
owner and thesw iz no reason why that value
should differ according to the purpose for
which it is assessed.”
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In Hall's case @upr@v a Valuation Board had decided
that in valuations under the Land Valuation Law it was improper
to take into account the future development of the land.

Farlier Lewis J.:. had referred to the definition of "unimnroved

value” in the Land Valuation Law and continued:

"There is no dispute that these provisions
require the Commissioner in valuing the
land to visualise a hypothetical sale of
the land as one parcal by a willing seller
to a willing buyer. The implications of
the willing seller and the willing buyer
concept are now well established and have
with modifications, bcen codified in the
Land Acguisition Ztatutes of many common-
wealth countries. They have been
authoritatively stated in a number of cases ¢
which this Court was referred. I need only
mention Spencer v, Commonwealth of
fustralia; Cedar Rapids Manufacturing
Power Co. v. Lacoste; Fraser v. Frascerville
City; Vyricherla iarayana Gajapatiraijuy;
Raja vs. Revenue Divisional Officer.

These cases establish that the ‘value’ of
the land is its market value, that is what
a man desiring tc buy the land would have
had to pay for it on the prescribed day to

a vendor willing to sell it for a fair prica
but not desirous of selling it. 1In
arriving at this value, all the advantages
which the land possesses, present or future,
in the hands of the owner may be taken Intc
consideration; but its poctentialities must
be considered 2¢ possibilitics and not as
realised in the hands of the purchasers.”

Finally the applicable rule of law, however clear,
is not the end of the¢ matter as in the instant case the question
is whether the applicable legal rule was correctly applied to
the. facts of the case. The absence of an offer to purchase is
not an insurmontable hurdle in arriving at the unimproved value
of the land. Th: definition of unimproved value proceeds on the
assumption that there must be a purchaser and in the absence of
an actual purchaser, a mythical or hypothetical purchaser nmust
be assumed and hence it must be assumed that there is a demand -

Collins on Valuation of Property Compmensationand Land Tax, ». 27.
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The function of the hypothetical murchaser was

cuthoritatively expounded by Isaacs J., in Spencer v. Commion-

szalth of Australia (supra), when he said that the ultimate

ruestion was the value of the land at the: valuation date and
continued:

“The all important fact is the opinion
regarding the fair price of the land which

a hypothetical prudent purchaser would
entertain, if he desired to purchase it

for the most advantageous purpose for which
it was adapted ..... To arrive at the value
of the land at that date, we have, as 1
conceive to suppose it sold then, not by
means of a forced sale, but by voluntary
barcoaining between the plaintiff and a
nurchaser, willing to trade, but neither

of them so anxious to do so that he would
overlook any ordinary business consideration.
e pust further suppose both to be perfectly
acguainted with the land, and cognizant of
all circumstances which might affect its
value, either advantageously or
prejudically including its situation,
character, quality, proximity to conveniences
or inconveniences, its surrounding

features, the then present demand for land,
and the likelihood, as then appearing to
nersons best capable of forming an opinion
of a rise or fall for what reason soever in
the amount which one would otherwise be
willing to fix as the value of the property.”

In Spencer’s case there was evidence that the land

in guestion at the date of valuation situate at North Freemantle
about ten miles from Yerth, Australia, consisted of sand hummocks
nverlooking the Indian Ocean. It had no grass, and was useless
in that condition for any purpose of production. The plaintiff’cs
witnesses thoucht that the land in guestion, by reason of its
gituation, its heicht, and its excepticnally large area amongst

a number of small sub~divisions, had a prospective value as a
siﬁe for a factory or some other enterprise requiring a considor-
able space. The defendant’s witnesses on the other hand thoucght
that the land was not fit for anything except sub-division into
small allotments for workmen's dwellings. On these conflicting

facts the learned trial judge arrived at the special finding that
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on the material date, whatever the property might have fetched

as a future factory site, the bhighest value of the land was

for workmen's cottages. With this finding of fact the Appelleate

<j> Court found itself unable to disagree, altiiough in the view

of Isaacs J.:

R
| }
N

"The suitability of the land for a factory
site is incontestable. PFut its inherent
suitability, and its money value, for a
factopy are two very different matters. WNo
demand for factory sites there existed

on lst January, 1905 and therefors no
spacial value could be nlaced on it for
that purpose, unless the hypothetical
nrudent purchaser would then taken into

his calculation the futuxre prospects of the
land being wanted for such a site. As to
this not a single concrete fact leading to
such a probability, or likely to influence
a would be purchaser, is adduced.”

The speculative prospective futuristic hope in Spencci’s

case is to be contrastzd with the position in the instant case

where the land had been sub-divided some thirteen years before

valuation date, office buildings had already been constructed

at various sections within the development and there were

rravious sales of land which border on the car park on which

Q;/> lJot 141 is situated.

(supra) may well be heeded when he said of the judge's finding

of facts:

“"Unless some error of principle is
established, or the evidencs on one
side so preponderates over that on

the other by reason of its character,
force, or quality, as to distinctly
outweigh the disadvantages of not
secing and hearing the witnesses, it

is impossible to disturb a finding

of the nature now under consideration.”

Lucas v. Chesterfield Gas and ""ater Board (1209)

1 K.B. 15, proceaded on the basis that the land in question had

special adaptability for the construction of a reservoir and

The caution of Isaacs J., in Spencer's cas:

)

-

i

that this special guality ought to be taken into consideration in

the assessment of compensation. The Court re-iterated the prin-

2iple that the test is of the possibilities and not the realizaed
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possibilities. In that case thers was no power in the owner of the land o hur:
daveloped it into 2 reservoir and the land could be sold for
that purpose to only a very limited number of purchasers who
had parliamentary power to construct a reservoir, yet having
regard to the state of readiness of the land for the purpose

of a reservoir, Vaughan Williams L.J. concluded:

"It may be that the adantability of the
land for the purpose of enlarging the
resexrvoir was so unique that he will
give a value little less than that which
he would give if dealing with the
realized possibility.”®

The facts in the case of Maori Trustee v, Ministry

of Works (1958) 3 R1ll E.R. 336 P.C. were entirely different

from those in the instant case. There a mlan subject to the
anproval of the agpropriate Minister had been prepared for

the sub-division of two hundred and forty-~itwo acres of Maeri
land. Pefore the approval of the Minister was obtained a
notice of intention to compulsorily acguire ninety-one acres

of the land was served. At the time of the notice there was

no more than a paner plan for the sub—division and the land had
not then been sub-divided in fact. This is how Lord Keith of

Zvonholm described the land in question:

"It is clear that, as a scheme of land
development, the plan, if it had ever got
to the stage of consideration by the
¥Minister, might have becn materially
modified in the matter of roads, drainage,
access, the establishment of reserves,
co-ordination with adjacent arwgs and
other respects, if it ware not entirely
scrapped and had to ke written anew .....
there were in fact no subdivided lots as
shown on the plan, no roads, fences,
‘accasses, drainage or other facilities.”

Some of the factors which a Court must take into
consideration in valuing land, ripe for sub-division are the
prospective yield from the sub=division, the costs of effecting
such a sub~division, and the likelihood that a purchaser
acguiring the land with that object would allow some margin for

unforeseen costs, contingencies and profit for himself. All
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instant case where

these factors ars guite irrelevant to the
zoned for commercial nurposes, the
at three

the sub-division was
was set

wermitted development on sach lot of land
-imes the ground swmace and a hypothetical purchascr could

LA

secured amoroved

cormence constructicn as soon as he had
can therefore find no nerit in the complaint
-

#uilding nlans. I
a3 valued on the basis of rcalized possibkbilities

that the land w

rather than upon its nossibilities.
Dr. Adwards arcued Grounds 1, 2 and 3 together and

submitted that the Judoe of the Revenue Court failed to assess
the evidence proverly and erred in law in holding that the
In my opinion

assessment of $27,000.00 was not excessive.
=aid for lot 142 in 1972 was very cogent

the purchase nrice

2videncepon which

2, KR I

t the

learned trial judce. could rely for hic
and

the
appellant’s valuvation of $6,000.00

iecizion to rejec

MeCalla of £4,002.00 in resrtect of lot 141,

that of lir.
1 that the respondent®s sample was

=

3

The criticisn
insinnificant as i% amounted to a minimel 1% of the total
number of car park lots is in my view unsupportable, as the
lot or lots selectad for comparison fell within the lots
adiacent to the same car park in which lot 141 was located and
e most closely related to lot 141. Evidence of

ra™ -

wrovided evidenc
of lot 142 was of such exceptionally high cogency that

the sale
ne tribunal of fact vhich had properly directed itself in law

cculd fall to acrord to it significant weight.
a2xistence of motorized access from Knutsford

fact which cannot be
It is my

The
Soulaevard to lot 141 is an unassailable
cdestroyed or displaced by mere arqument and debate.

opinion that the learned judge of the Revenue Court was oblicad

evidence of

@
S .
w0 give weight to this factor and he 4las not been shown to have

rred in law in accepting and acting uron the

2X

Francis.

[
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At the time of the purchase of lot 141 by the appelliznt
it was his intenticn to build his professional offices there.

Yo evidence was led by him to indicate that that land had become

/holly unsuitable for office purposes and therefore worthless.

(ne is left to wonder how the appellant and his auctioneer
Ceseribed this lot when they advertised it for sale. Vthere the
@videncc‘of Messrs. Burke and icCalla on the one. hand, conflicted
«rith the evidence of llr. Francis on the other hand, the learned
iudge of the Revenue Court was in the best position to assess
tholr credibility and to assign waight to their evidence. I am
~0% at all persuaded that he was in error in any of his findings
o fact nor that he took any irrelevant matter into consideraticn,
nor that he failed to give due weight to any matter which he
oucht to have considered. In the circumstances, therefore, I

are of the opinion that this appeal should be dismissed, the Ordax
»% the Court below ought to bhe affirmed and the appellant should

2 ordered to pay the costs of the appzal to be agreed or taxed.



O

-~
A=

{oh

200

CARBEFRY J.A.

I have had the oppcrtunity of reading in draft the
judgment of Rowe J.A. {(as he then was), and have in fact had
it under advisement for longer than I shculd., Frankly it
seened to me that in accepting the arguments made by counsel
on behalf of the Commissioner of Valuations rather less than
justice had been done to the taxpayer, ir. K.C. Burke. However
in the period of recovering from a recent operation I have had
the opportunity of going through once more not only the arguments
and cases addressed to us, but also reviewing a great manv cther
cases culled from the Australian Reports (The Coummonwealth Law

Reports), and I am sorry to say that none of them dealt directly

-with the problems that faced us in this case, (nor did the

cases from other jurisdiction cited to us). I have been
reluctantly compelled to come to the conclusion that ultimately
what we faced was a combination of a questicn of fact and the
way the statute involved, The Land Acguisition Act, had been
drafted. I am therefore of the view that the Judgment of Rowe
J.A,, is correct. I must however set out the difficulties in
this case of fact and the laﬁ as I saw them.

The appellant kMr. XK.C. Burke, {(hereafter referred to as
the tax payer), a solicitor and Attorney-at-law, and sometime
President of the Jamaica Bar Association, bought in 1960 a Lot,
No 141, in a sub-division called New Kingston; the sub-division
consisted of the major part of what had formerly been the
Knutsford Park Race Course. The sub-division had keen first
approved in principle by the Kingston and St. Andrew Corporation
in late 13858, but the final sub-division plan was deposited on
13th January, 1260 and Mr. Burke got his title, registered at
Volume 957 Folio 34, on the 10th January, 1961. The lot was of
the average size, 3C by 90 feet, and he bought it for &2,70C

{subject to a mortgage of £1,%00). (In the decimal currency which
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replaced the {4 those figures would be $5,400 and $3,800
respectively). He has been in possession since 1561, and has
made no improvements and in fact done nothing with the lot
since he bought it. He bought it with the intention of
building his office therc, or to sell it and acquire otherxr
land for that purpose. A fair inference would be that he
wought it as a speculative investment, hoping that as one of
the original purchasers he might resell later at a profit.
Unfortunately, though he has made efforts to resell, advertisiig
the lot for sale, putting up a for sale sign, engaging
auctioneers etcetera he has had nc offers. He has indicated
that he would have been willing to accept as little as $6,000

up to 1970. 1In his Declaration of Value dated 30th October,

1974, this tax payer declared the value of the land to be
$6,000.00 and complained that no one had offered as much as
$10,000.00

The Declaration of Value form appears to ke one of
the forms used by the taxpayer who wishcs to challenge the
valuation made ky the Commissioner of his premises. He signs
or submits (1) a Notice of Objection, and (2) at the same tiwe
is required to submit his own Declaration of value, and
presumably will until the matter is settled pay taxes at least
on that value.

In the ¥otice of Okjection form, it appears that this

lot had been valued by the Commissioner at $36,700 (unimproved
value). The form records the tax payer's reasons for objecting
to the valuation as follows:

"o building thereon and land is enpty
lot. ¥o income earned thercfrom.

Land is 'landlocked' with buildings

on all adjoining lots and is very small.
Frontage is only 30 feet and depth 90
fect, BArea 2700 square feet. Have
been trying to sell land for several
yeare, and no one up to now with cffer
as much as $10,000 or more., Value
assessell grossly excessive."
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Though the Notice of Objection to the valuation was
dated 30th October, 1974, The Notice of Decision cf Commissicncr
is dated 11th November, 1980.

The Commissioner's decision on the objecticn was to
reduce the unimproved value from the figure of $36,700 to
$29,700, and to amend the valuation roll to that effect as from

1st April, 1974.

The form records that the Collector of Taxes has been
advised of the new valuation and that that texes should now be
paid on that valuation. It is I think worthy of ccmment that
at no time was any reason ever advanced or evidence given by thc
Commissioner to support the original valuation of 536,700 or to
suggest how that figure had been arrived at in the first place.
The Commissicner's evidence was directed at justifying the
$29,700 to which he had reduced the valuation, or rather the
still lower figure of $27,000.00 to which he ultimately came.

The taxpayer appecaled to the Revenue Court against tha
valuation of $29,700 by a Notice of Appeal, 14th January, 1951,
The grounds of appeal will be discussed later on.

Something must now be said of the legal context in which
the guestion of unimproved value was being discussed. Under The

Property Tax Act persons in possession of property are required

to pay to the appropriate Collector of Taxes property tax on their
land, annually, the tax being due and pavable on the 1lst day of
April in each year. The Schedule to that Act sets out the rate

of property tax, and it is payable on the unimproved value of the

property. Section 12 (2) of the Act provides:

"{2) In this Act any reference to the
uninproved value of property in
whatever terms shall be deemed to
be a reference to the unimproved
value of land within the imeaning
of the Land Valuation Act.”
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The powers of the Collectors cof Taxes and the mechanics of tax

collection are tc be found in the Tax Collection Act.

Eeforc lcoking at the Land Valuation Act itself, it
should be noted that there is ancther dimensicn to that Act,

which is to be found in The Land Acquisition Act. This act

gives power to the government to acquire for public purposes
particular lands deemed to be necessary for such purposes, and
provides for the pavment of compensation for such lands.
Section 14 deals with the determination of the amount of
compensation to be awarded, and one of the principal items of
ccormpensation is of course the market value of the land taken.
Subsection 2 (c) of section 14 obsarves:

"(c¢) in determining the market value,

regard shell be had to any subsisting

, ‘ valuation of the unimproved valuc of
the land pursuant to the Land Valuation

Act and all assessments aund returns
acquiesced in or made in that behalf."

The result then is that the Land Valuation Act serves

a double purpose: it {ixes the valuation cf property for rating
or tax purposes, {(in respect tc which the taxpayer will be

anxious to secure a low valuation figure¢), but at the same tirc
fixes the valuaticn or compensation which the Government will oive
to the owner whose land it compulsorily acguires, (in respaect Lo
which the owner would naturally wish to have the highest possiile
value awarded). These twc approaches are inconsistent the one
with the other, but twc further comments should be made: for

Taxation purpcses what is keing taxed is the unimproved value of

the land, while for cormpensation purposes what i$ being compensated

for is the improved or market value as it stands of the land takon;

anc secondly there are provisions for the payment of additionail
compensation for damage caused to the remaining land, reasonable
expenses for removal from the land acquired etcetera, but to be
set against this is any increase in value to the remaining land

arising from the use to which the acquired land is put. The

1097
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introduction cf this new approach has caused some dislccation

6]

to land owners accustomed to having a special valuation put oo
their land for tax or rating purposes, which was very much lover
than the amount they would have either sold their land for, cox
axpected in compensation if it were ccompulscrily acquired. The
devising of a common formula for valuing land for both taxatior
and compulsory acquisition purposes seaems to have ofiqinateu in
New South Wales, Australie, though the formula for cormpensation
has become widely used throughout the Commonweslth.

The Land Valuation Act defines "Unimproved value” thuse

"unimproved value” meanss

{2a) in relation to unimpreved land the
capital sum which the fec simpie
of the land together with any
licence cor other right cr privilege
{if any) for the time being
affecting the land, might be expected
to realize if offered for sale on such
rcasonable terme and conditions. as a
bona fide seller would require;

(b} in relation to itmwroved land the
capital sum which the fee simple of
the land inight be expected to realize
if offered for sale on such reasonable
terms and conditions as a bona fide
seller would require, assuming that
at the time as at which the value is
reguired to be ascertained for the
purposee of this Act’ the improvements
as defined in this Act do not exist:

Provided that .... (provisc omitted)
(The proviscs conclude by saying that the
unimproved value shall in no case ke less
than the sum that will be cktained by
deducting the value cf the improvements
from the improved value.)

It appears to me that sections (a) and (b) of the
definiticn cf "unimproved value" are meant to arrive at the szne
end result, seeing that in the case of “improved land" the value
is to be arrived at as if the improvements did not exist, and

further the value of the improvements is to be deducted from the

improved value in order to arrive &t the uniwpreoved value. "vaiue

’-

| ‘abC”(‘Z
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of improvements is also defined, and is sharply distinguished
fror the cost of the improvements.

The result then is that on either approach, whether
it be valued as unimproved land, or as improved land, the
valuation of the lot, or its "unimproved value” cught to be tho

same. The total area has of course been improved, by the subdivisioi.

the cutting of recads, installation of water and electricity meins
etcetera, though the individual lots themselves have not becen workad
on.

One other general comment: when the formula indicated
above is used in land resumption or compulsory accuisiiton casas
to arrive at the value or compensation to be paid the dispossessed
former owner, the cascs indicated that what is te be valued is
the land as it was worth to the owner, it is his interest thet is
being acquired.

It shculd also be noted that while the best evidence of
the value of land, its market value, would be evidence of cffcrs
made for it, or evidence of what it had recently been purchasod
for cr sold for, evidence c¢f sales of similar land in the sane
area at the reclevant times is probably the next best evidence that
can be got, and in practice is the evidence most frequently oifored.

In particular it should be noted that the exercise of
valuaticn is somewhat arbitrary: it is not to the point that in
actual fact at the datc of valuation nc one would have been willing
to make any coffer at all for the subject land. Griffiths C.J.,

put the matter thus in Spencer v, The Coamonwealth (1907) 5 C.0.F.

418 at 432
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"It may be that the land is fit for

many purposes, and will in all probability
be scon required for some of them, but
there may be no one actually willing at

the moment to buy it at any »rice, still

it does not - follow that the land has

no value. In my judgment the test of

value of land is to be determined, not by
inguiring what price a man desiring to

sell could actually have obtained for it

on a given day, i.e., whether there was

in fact on that day a willing buyer, but
by inquiring 'What would a man desiring

to buy the land have had to pay fcr i1t on
that day to a vendor willing to sell it

for a fair price but not desirous to sell?
It is, no doubt very difficult to answer such
& qguesticn, and any answer rust be tc some
extent conjectural.”

Isaacs J., in the same case put the matter thus, at page 441:

"The plaintiff is to be compecnsated;
therefore he is to receive the mcney
equivalent to the loss he has
sustained by deprivation of his land,
and that loss, apart from special
damage not here claimed,; cannot
exceed what such a prudent purchaser
would be prepared to give him.

To arrive at the value of the land at

that date, we have, as I conceive, to
suppose it sold then, not by means of

a forced sale, but by voluntary

bargaining between the plaintiff and

a purchascr, willing to trade, kut neither
of them so anxious to do so that he

would overlock any cordinary business
consideration. Ve must further suppose
both tc be perfectly acquainted with the
land, and ccgnizant of all circumstances
which might affect its value, either
advantageously cr prejudicially, including
its situation, character, guality,
proximity tc convenicnces or inconveniences,
it surrcunding features, the then present
demand for land, and the likelihood, as then
appearing to persons best capable of
forring an opinion, of a rise cr fall for what
reason scever in the amcunt which one

would otherwise be willing to fix as the
value cf the property.”

It is I think clear that in this situaticn one may find
conflicting opinions of egually honest competent and confident

cxperts.



-~y

=

o

27.

Spencer's case was a case of valuation for compulsory
acquisition of land. However the principles set out in the
passages quoted have been adopted in cases of valuation for

the purposes of texation. See for example Federal Commissioner

of Land Tax v. Duncan (1915) 19 C.L.R. 551 at 553, where

Griffiths C.J. says:

"The definition of "unimproved value" in
section 3 of the Act is this:

‘the capital sum which the fee simple
might be expected to realize if
offered for sale on such reascnable
terms and conditions as a bona fide
seller would reguire'.

The underlying idea is that the land is
to be treated as converted into mcney

as on the day as of which the assessment
is made, so that & realized capital sum
tzkes the place of the land. That of
course assumes a hypothetical purchaser.
It does not mean that vou are to inquire
wvhether there was at that time a
purchaser ln existence who would have
been willing to buy the particular parcel
of land. That was pointed cut in
Spencer v. The Commonwealth."

The definition of "unimproved value" appearing above 1ig
virtually the same as that in the Jamaica Land Valuation Act, and

Spencer’s case was followed in our own case, Valuation Commisgioncy

v. Hall (1963} 8 J.L.R. 234; 5 W.I.R. 401.

The fact that Kr. Burke is unable to find a purchasecz
for his lot at a price that he would accept, even as little as
$6,000 - $10,000 is not necessarily conclusive, secing that what
we are to find is a hypothetical purchaser. Nevertheless the
failure to find any purchaser cover such a long pericd must I
think be a factor to be taken intoc account, but how?

The Land Valuation Act operates con the premise that the
valuations made by the Commissioner will be reviewed periodically
as near as may be five vears after the date fixed for the first
valuation, and then as near as may be on every fifth anﬁiversary

of such date thereafter: see section 11.
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Though Mr. Burke had bought his lot in 1960 for
+#2,700, it appears that for taxation purposes it was valued
at #500 by the Collector of Taxes, and was reduced from #500
to #400 in 1964. Though the Land valuation Act had been passed
in 1957 it seems that in the period 1960-64 the previous
system by which valuations for tax purposes were made by the
Collector of Taxes still obtained. Be that as it may, if the
Commissioner of Valuations was now taking over and purporting
to re-value the land, under one of the periodic 5 year re-
valuations, it would seem arguable that the onus of showing
that the value 'of the land had increased since it was first
valued should rest on the Commissioner. After all the land is
already on the Tax and Valuation Rolls, and if it is alleged
that its value has increased, should not the burden of showing
the change rest on the Commissioner who asserts it?

Something should be said generally about this sub-
Givisicn and Mr. Burke's Lot. The land in guestion was what
might be called "prestige land”, and since development commenced
on it, some very large and expensive buildings have been erected
on it. The subdivision plan did not cut the land up into a grid
or system of small blocks. Instead there was a large central
road'running through the heart of the subdivision, Knutsford
Boulevard. If that road is regarded as running north to south,
then on each side of the subdivision there was another north to
south road, not as wide, but running parallel, one on the east
being St. Lucia Avenue, and the other on the west being Grenada
Crescent (running into Antigua Avenue). Apart from the perimeter
roads to the north and south (Trinidad Terrace and Tobago Avenuc)
There were two main avenues running east to west across the full
breadth of the subdivision. In between these two main avenues
were smaller areas, indicated as "car parks" on the plan, which

ran from St. Lucia Avenue on the East and from Grenada Crescent
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on the west, but did not emerge on to Knutsford Boulevard, that
is they stopped short, and represent so to speak inlets from the
two outside roads which have no connection or egress on to the
main central highway Knutsford Boulevard. Persons having lots
on these car parks have no direct access to the central highway
Knutsford Boulevard, and their only means of egress is through
the car park and onto one or other of the two subsidiary north
to south roads, St. Lucia Avenue or Grenada Crescent. In
addition, for some reason explicable only to the developers, each
car park is terminated by an area designated "piazza." This
apparently is an arca to be raised above ground level, and onto
which no vehicular traffic at all will go! Each "piazza"
however has two lots on each side of it, and as the plan stands
it appears that those lots have no road access at all. The lot
that Mr. Burke chose to buy was such a lot; it had no road
access according to the subdivision plan, ang could acquire such
access only if it was held by some one who}ih adjoining lot
which directly fronted on the car park. Alternatively,it could
get road access if vehicles were allowed to cut across what
secemed to have been designed as pedestrain footways to the
piazza. The evidence indicated that in fact this had been
happening, though it was contrary to the sukdivision plan and

at some time or the other the developers or for that matter the
appropriate civic authority might intcrvene to restore the
barriers and footways originally planned for.

Bearing these considerations in mind Mr. Burke's
choice of this lot (and there are others like it) was unfortunate.
He complains that it was "landlocked". It might also be
observed that in a prestige area where buildings were being
erected on holdings of six lots or more, buying a single lot

was like entering into a poker game with a very inadequate stake
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considering what the other players had! His lot ncw is so to
speak in the back vard of one of the very kig buildings which
front on Knutsford Boulevard, namely Citi-Bank. K¢ has not
offered his lot to them for sale. Further, unless they plan
some small extension or annex it is not easy to see what coculd
ever induce them to buy it.

Before turning to the evidence in detail one or two
further general comments are in order. In actual fact the
development of the llew Kingston sub-division has been very
unequal. Several large and imposing buildings have been
erected, surrounded now by deserts ¢of undeveloped lots with
a good deal of untidv rubbish thereon. There arc some arcas
however which do house what may be called middle sized buildings
of two stories or three. Such building as has taken place will
have undoubtedly increased the value of the lots that have so
far not been built on. It may be that some are single lots,
and that some are single lcts fronting on the car nark areas, or
even landlccked like that of Mr. Burke. Be that as it may if
land values incrcase generally because of such development as has
taken place, then this will affect the remaining lots whatever
their actual condition mav be. This may sometimes operate

harshly on the tax payver, as in Tetzner v. Colcocnial Sugar

Refining Co., Ltd., (1958) A.C. 50 (P.C.). Here the taxpayer,

the Sugar Co., had by its industry brought new abundant life to
the surrounding village, prcvided steady work for its
inhabitants, and seen them improve their holdings and houses.
Land values went up, largely due to the growth stimulated by the
company. The result was that the taxable values of the company's
land also increased in value. It was held that thcugh the
increased prosperity of the neighbourhood was due to all that
goes with the carrying on of a successful manufacturing enter-

prise by the company it could not be regarded as a deductable
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improvement; the company's land had to ke valued as land void
of buildings but situated in the community with the amenities
and facilities which have grown up around it.

In the result then unbuilt on lots may well find
that their value has increased due to the development elsevhere
in the subdivision, though they continve in the same conditicon
&s when first acquired, bringing in no income, and they may
have few attractions for a purchaser,

The taxpayer here, set up as his main line of attack
cn the valuation of £27,000 proposed by the Commissioner the
fact that he had been unable to find a purchaser for his lot
despite his efforts to sell it, and the fact that he was up
to 1970 asking as little as $6,000 ($600 above what he
originally paid for it.)

In support he called an auctionecr and real estate
agent of some 29 years experience, who valued the lct in 1974
at $4,000. and commented adversely on the situation of the Lot
(“location is everything.)" This valuation was less than the
taxpayer had originally paid for the lct, and less than he was
willing to accept from any purchaser. Unfortunately the
witness had nc evidence as to sales of any comparable lots in
the subdivision and no ready answer tc the suggestions as to
comparative sales put forward by the Commissicner, save to point
out that they were at better locations and were ncet landlocked
as was lot 141,

For the Commissioner, evidence was given by his deputy,

who said that he had assessed this lot at $27,000, taking into

-account the varicus features of the subdivision. He offered

evidence culled from the Registered Book of Titles (which
records transfers and consideration) to the effect that Lot

142 which adjoins the subject lct 141 had been sold in 1972
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for §16,200, while lots 152 and 153 which are on the same car
park as lot 141 but 153 fronts on St. Lucia Avenue were scld
for 533,750 and $34,000 in 1973. Further Lot 129, which fronts
on the same car park, but on the other side and fairly clcse tc
St. Lucia Avenue scld in 1972 for $30,00C.

In response to the question why value lot 141 fcr
327,000 when lct 142 next to it scld for $16,200 in 1972 the
deputy commissioncer stated that the real estate market was
guite buoyant in 1972 and that there had been a significant
upward movement of prices between 1972 and 1574. 1In cross-
examination he admitted that lots on the car.parks were valued
at less than lots that fronted on the rcads in the subdivision,
and that these latter lots had been more developed in the
21 years that the subdivision had been in existence.

In response tc a guastion from the trial judge as to
valuing Lot 141 for $27,000 when lot 142 had sold for $16,200
in 1972, the witness repeated his suggestion that sale prices
had gone up in 1973 over 1972, from $6.00 per square foot to
$11.06 per square foot. No actual evidence was ever called in
surport cof this assertion.

In his judgment the learnced trial judge seems to have
accepted the submission made by counsel for the Comiissioner
that there was an onus on the taxpayer to prove the Commissicnocr’®s
valuation wrong. (This seems to me to be debatable: there was
a previous valuation figure on the roll, and it is the
Commissioner who is re-valuing the premises, should he not
have the burden of justifying his new increased figure? Why
should the taxpayer have to prove the figurc wrong? EHe already
has on the existing roll the previous valuatiocn, there is no

reason to assume without evidence that the figure has changed?)
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Be that as it may, the learned trial judge rejected
the evidence of the taxpayer's witncss (as to a $4,000 value)
as unsatisfactory: it lacked any evidence of comparative sales
cf comparable lots. He did not reject the taxpayver's evidence
that he had keen trying to sc<ll the lot for some years without
finding a purchaser, but observed that as indicated in

Spencer's case (supra) what is needed is a hypothetical

purchaser not a real one. FHe was I think troubled as tc the
significance that could be attached to the taxpaver's evidence
as to failure to find 2 purchaser, but he did nct reject it

as untruc. On the other hand he accepted the evidence as to
the sale of let 142 in 1672 at $16,200 and did not agree that
the 70% increase in two ycars to $27,000 was not supperted by
other evidence in the case. He acceptad the asserticn that
had been made by the deputy commissioner that prices had
escalated between 1972 and 1974,

Speaking for myself there are two things about this
case that worry me considerably. There were some 380 lots in
this subdivision, and one would have thought that (a) some
classificaticns were possible, e.g. raaking differently in
value lots that had frontage on a road from thcse that fronted
only on car parks, (b) but that a certain level of uniformity
as tc valuation shculd have been possible to establish. There
was no evidence as to the original prices at which the lots
were sold, but if in fact differentiations were made dependent
on the location of the lots, it would have been possikle to
discover these and to use them as pcints of reference.

The second matter that worries me is that if the
taxpayer comes to court and sayvs "I have been trying to sell
the lot for $6,000 or thereabouts, and I can't ge¢t a buyer,
despite putting the place into the hands of real c¢state agents,

and putting up for sale sign," it seems unfair toc tell him well



C

34,

the man next door to you scld his lct for $£16,200 and I say

your lot is worth $27,000 or 706% more two years later. The
Statute contains no clause which would enable the tax payer

to say to the Commissioner "You say its worth $27,000, then
kindly take the land over from me at that figure, its your

own valuation!” While it is true that the valuation exercise

is a conjectural cne, and that the purchaser is "hypothetical,”
if in fact the taxpayer has had the land advertised for sale

at a far lower figure and has had no cffers, then the problem
remains how does this affect the valuation? Unfortunately the
cases are guite silent on this particular problem. Possibly
because it is to some extent a question of fact. If cne accepts
the evidence of the Commissioner as to the value of a compareble
lot, then whether you have been able to sell vcocur lot or not
that is the valuation. To use the American proverb, "If you
can't stand the heat come out of the kitchen", but says the
taxpayer, "that's exactly whet I have been trying to do, but I
can't find a purchaser, nor will Covernment take it cover for
what they allege its worth."

Finally, it is my opinion that where the Commissicner
is revaluing a taxpaver's land, and alleges it has increased in
value, the cnus shculd be on him tc show the increase over the
previous existing valuation. In this case that would have made
no difference as the learned trial judge found that the
Commissioner had discharged any kurcden, he accepted the
Commissicner's evidence.

In Spencer's case (supra) at p. 430-431 Griffiths

C.J. discusscs the role of a Court of Appeal dealing with

findings of fact by the trial judge. He said:



o

-
\\\\//f

—

P

35,
"It has often been pcinted ocut that,
when a cause has been hcard by a Judge
on oral evidence, a Court of Appeal is
very reluctant to differ from him on
a question of fact, especially when
therce is a conflict of evidence. And
the same consideraticns apply whether
the conflict is as to the actual facts,
or as to a matter of opinion as tc
which it is material to weigh the
relative values cof the ovinionsof
different witnesses. So far, therefore,
as Higgins J., founded his judgment cn
the weight tc be given to the opinion
of the different witnesses as to relevant
facts, I am not prepared to differ from him..."
There arc of ccurse dicta that go the other way, and
which indicate that if the Appellate Court is of the view that
the judge has taken into account matters that should not have
kbeen allowed toc influence him, or has failed to take into account
matters that should have influenced him, or even if it is clear
that he has made a mistake, the Appellate Court will intervene
and correct the judgment.
Here the trial judge accepted the evidence given by
the Deputy Commissicner and his asserticn that there had been a
70% increase in land values between 1972 and 1974, as against
the evidence of the taxpayer's witness that there had been &
slump in the market (for land) between 1973-75, and that therc
had been a marked lack of demand 1973-74, and that the market
had been better in 1972 than in 1973.
I have, with some reluctance, come to the view that
the appeal nmust be dismissed, and the judgment below upheld.
The respondent will have his costs of the appeal, to be taxed

or agreed,
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I have had the opportunity of reading the judgments
in draft of Rowe J.A., {as he then was) and Carberry J.A., and
I agree that the appeal should be dismissed, with costs to

the respondent.
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